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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr VJ Walker

	Scheme
	:
	Teachers’ Pension Scheme

	Respondent
	:
	Department for Education and Skills (DfES)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION

1. Mr Walker says that his application for ill-health benefits has been unreasonably refused by DfES.  He asks that DfES acknowledge that he is permanently unfit by reason of illness to serve as a teacher and grant him ill-health benefits backdated to 25 March 2004. 

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

REGULATIONS

3. A teacher’s entitlement to ill health benefits is governed by the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 1997 (the Regulations).

4. Regulation E4 of the Regulations provides as follows:

“Entitlement to payment of retirement benefits

“(1) Subject to regulation E33(2) (application for payment) a person qualified for retirement benefits becomes entitled to payment of them in any of the Cases described in this regulation.

………

(4) In Case C the person-

(a) has not attained the age of 60,

(b) has ceased after 31st March 1972 and before attaining the age of 60 to be in pensionable employment,

(c) is incapacitated and became so before attaining the age of 60, and

(d) is not within Case D [compensation for redundancy and premature retirement]…..

5. “Incapacitated” is defined in the Regulations as follows:

“A person is incapacitated -

(a) in the case of a teacher, an organiser or a supervisor, while he is unfit by reason of illness or injury and despite appropriate medical treatment to serve as such and is likely permanently to be so….”

6. Regulation E4(8) provides,

“In Case C the entitlement takes effect –

(a) (refers to members in excluded employment) and

(b) in any other case, as soon as the person falls within the Case…

or (in all cases), if later, 6 months before the date of the last of any medical reports considered by the Secretary of State in determining under regulation H9 that the person had become incapacitated.”

7.
Regulation E8 provides for the enhancement of retirement benefits in case of incapacity: 

“(1)
This regulation applies to a person who has become entitled to payment of retirement benefits by virtue of regulation E4(3) or (4) by reason of his having become incapacitated before ceasing to be in pensionable employment, but only if

(a)

(i)
where his pensionable employment terminates before 1st April 2000, he had completed periods of the kinds described in Schedule 8 totalling at least 5 years, excluding any contributions refund period, or 

(ii)
where his pensionable employment terminates on or after 1st April 2000, he had completed periods of the kinds described in Schedule 8 totalling at least 2 years, excluding any contributions refund period, and 

(b) the application for payment required by regulation E33 is made within 6 months after the end of his pensionable employment.

Where the Regulation applies the effective reckonable service of the teacher is increased.

MATERIAL FACTS

8.
Mr Walker was born on 16 December 1945.

9.
At the time of his application for ill–health benefits, Mr Walker was teaching mathematics at a high school in Pontefract, West Yorkshire. 

10.
In December 2002, Mr Walker went to his GP suffering from spasms of his eyelids, symptoms of fatigue, poor concentration, poor memory and feelings of stress. Mr Walker continued teaching until 19 March 2003, when his eye condition had worsened to such a state that he was unable to teach. He went on sick leave and did not return to work. His last day of pensionable employment was 26 March 2004. 

11.
On 5 April 2004, Mr Walker applied to Teachers’ Pensions Agency (TPA) for ill-health benefits to be paid to him. Part C of the form was completed by Mr Walker’s GP. Under the heading “Diagnosis” he stated that Mr Walker was suffering from “Stress” and said that there was no relevant past medical history. In answer to the question: “How does the disability affect the applicant’s ability to fulfil the duties of a teacher?” he stated, “Exhaustion so unfit for work. Poor concentration. Affecting his eyes in that when anxious they shut so difficulty in getting around on his own”. In answer to the question: “Is any further treatment envisaged or possible?” he stated, “Not at present”.  Part D of the form was completed by the employer’s occupational health adviser who confirmed that he had consultations with Mr Walker on 11 June 2003, 10 September 2003, 5 November 2003, 7 January 2004 and 31 March 2004. The occupational health adviser was asked two questions. To the first question: “How does this medical condition affect the applicant’s ability to teach?” he answered, “General depressive condition. Fluctuating ability to open eyes. When the eyes completely shut needing assistance to mobility”. The second question asked what steps had been taken to assist the applicant in a return to work. To this question the occupational health adviser answered, “During improvement he has intended to return to work but has then rapidly regressed so has not successfully returned.” 
12.
Mr Walker’s application was considered by DfES, as managers of the Scheme, who referred the application to their Medical Advisers, for them to make a recommendation on whether Mr Walker has become permanently incapacitated as defined within the relevant Regulations. Dr Howell, a DfES Medical Adviser considered Mr Walker’s application and recommended that he should not be regarded as permanently incapacitated.  He noted that:

“The reports by the General Practitioner and the Occupational Health Physician indicate a history of anxiety symptoms. While the response to the medication has been unsatisfactory, it appears that there has been no referral to a Consultant Psychiatrist for the specialist assessment and management of the condition. Where the full range of therapeutic options has yet to be explored, it would be inappropriate to consider incapacity for teaching to be permanent or likely to continue for a further eighteen months until Mr Walker’s normal retirement age of sixty.”

13. On 10 May 2004, TPA sent Mr Walker a copy of the Medical Adviser’s recommendation and informed him that his application had been unsuccessful . The letter informed Mr Walker of his right to appeal under the Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Disputes Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996 (IDRP).  Enclosed with the letter was a copy of the Appeals System Leaflet. which sets out the details as follows:    

“1.
What is the Appeals System?

The Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Dispute Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996, as amended, require all occupational pensions schemes to make arrangements to resolve disagreements between the managers of a scheme and its members.

The Department has introduced the following appeals system to deal with disagreements relating to applications for ill-health.

What is an Appeal?
An appeal is a request to the Department for Education and Employment, as Manager of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, for your application for ill health retirement to be considered by a Medical Advisor other than the one who made the original recommendation to reject your application. …

What information can I submit with my appeal?

An appeal is considered using only written evidence on the state of your health which would have been available at the time of the original application. Letters of support (eg from a colleague or headteacher) will be considered. As will reports written by a doctor, consultant, or other medical professional who was treating you at the time you made your original application. 

6. What if my Appeal is not successful?

If your first appeal is not successful, you have the right to make a second appeal. There is no time limit on making a first appeal. However, a second appeal must be made within six months of the date we notified you that your first appeal was not successful.  

You should set out in a letter any information which you feel is relevant to your case, and send it to us [DfES] at the address in paragraph 7. 

New Medical Evidence

If you submit new, or updated medical evidence, or medical evidence from a new doctor, this will be treated as a new application rather than an appeal and you must complete a new application form.”

The leaflet concluded by providing details of the Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS) and the Pensions Ombudsman.

14. On 11 June 2004, Mr Walker submitted a fresh application to TPA for ill-health benefits to be paid to him. Under the heading, “Is any further treatment envisaged or possible?” in Part C of the form Mr Walker’s GP stated “No. referral to consultant psychiatrist inappropriate. They only accept referrals for enduring mental illness”. In Part D of the form the occupational health adviser stated that Mr Walker’s problem was due to “accumulated stress of daughter’s illness, wife’s illness and job” and “Referred by own Dr to PLATT team - the local portal to psychiatric services.”  Mr Walker also submitted letters supporting his application from the headteacher and another colleague of the school where he had taught.   

15. Mr Walker’s second application was considered by DfES who referred the application to their Medical Advisers. Dr Howell, the DfES Medical Adviser who again considered Mr Walker’s application, recommended that he should not be regarded as permanently incapacitated.  He noted that:

“The reports by the General Practitioner and the Occupational Health Physician confirm a history of persistent depressive illness with anxiety symptoms, fatigue, impaired concentration and involuntary eyelid spasm. The response to antidepressant medication and assessment by the Community Mental Health Team has been limited. Although Mr Walker continues to be unable to return to work, and his mobility and reading ability are significantly affected by eyelid closure, there has been no assessment by a Consultant Psychiatrist. Where treatment in the primary care setting has been unsuccessful, and there has been no specialist involvement, it would be premature to conclude that Mr Walker will continue to be permanently incapable of teaching for a further seventeen months until his normal retirement age of sixty.”    

16. On 23 July 2004, Mr Walker submitted an appeal against DfES’ decision not to award him ill-health benefits. In his letter Mr Walker stated:

“…The sentence referring to me having a history of depressive illness, anxiety symptoms etc, I regard as untrue and, frankly insulting. In fact, I have never needed to visit a doctor’s surgery in my entire career until this last spell of ill-health. 

I have taught for thirty five years with little or no significant time absent from work. I have been absent from my job now for some 16/17 months and neither my own doctor, Dr Wilson, nor Wakefield MDC’s occupational health doctor, Dr Cross, can give me any time scale for recovery. Their opinion seems to be that over a period of about three years, from June 2000 when my wife had a breast cancer operation followed by six months of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. I have slowly but surely run myself into the ground. This spell was followed by my youngest daughter, who is registered blind and with severe learning difficulties, being taken ill, and she had four spells in hospital which I had no choice but to supervise. During this period I continued to work full time while at the same time I was caring for my wife and my daughter. Clearly, my body has said “enough” and in fairness to school, pupils, and parents, I have accepted a compromise agreement, and my job has been advertised and a replacement appointed in time for September 2004. 

My final decision to sign this agreement came after I had been absent for over a year. I visited the DHSS doctor regarding incapacity benefit and he concluded that he wouldn’t be reviewing my case for another twelve months. Clearly, when three doctors were of the same opinion – that my body would need time to reverse the problems and symptoms that built up over years, not months, - I could see no realistic prospect of returning to work before normal retirement at sixty.   

As I see it, my problems were more concerned with overwork, fatigue and burn out than anything psychological. Of course I hope to recover eventually, and I had intended in continuing in a job I have thoroughly enjoyed - full time to at least sixty and part time after that. I have no desire to be permanently incapacitated as I am at present. Dr Wilson has, I think, correctly concluded that the psychiatry route is not appropriate, and both the DHSS doctor and Dr Cross at Wakefield have agreed with her. I find it unfair and disturbing that the opinion of three different doctors can be overturned by your own doctor who has not seen me at any stage.”

17. Dr Westlake, a DfES Medical Adviser, was asked to advise on Mr Walker’s appeal. His report concluded:

“…The letter of appeal from the applicant has been noted. This was not accompanied by any fresh medical evidence. Accordingly, the medical evidence already held has been carefully reviewed. This confirms that the applicant suffers from stress-related symptoms giving rise to anxiety and low mood. Treatment has comprised anti-depressant medication supervised within the primary care setting and referral to the Community Mental Health Team. The original report completed by the General Practitioner indicated that referral to a Consultant Psychiatrist would be inappropriate as such referrals were only accepted for severe and enduring mental illness. The applicant is described as being unfit for work because of exhaustion, having poor concentration and suffering anxiety which causes his eyes to shut with consequent difficulties in navigation and reading. It would therefore appear that a formal psychiatric referral would be merited on these grounds. Where the available treatment options have yet to be explored it would be premature to speculate that the current level of disability will cause permanent incapacity.”    

18. On 4 August 2004, Mr Walker appealed again to DfES. In his letter Mr Walker said he had never considered his condition to be permanent and at some stage in the future would like to return to part-time teaching.  However, he points out that his GP and the Occupational Health Physician see no realistic prospect of recovery in the short time before he reaches normal retirement age. In support of his appeal he submitted a letter from an ex colleague. He did not submit any fresh medical evidence. 

19. Mr Walker’s appeal was considered by Dr Waddy, a DfES Medical Adviser, who concluded on 16 August 2004:

“…He was seen by the Community Mental Health Team who felt his symptoms were improving, and that they did not wish to see him again until he returned to work. His stress is related to the ill health of his wife and daughter and as a result he has somatised his symptoms. … Mr Walker states in his last letter that he hopes to return to teaching on a part-time basis. In order to satisfy the criteria for early payment of pension benefits there must be evidence that the applicant has a well recognised medical condition, for which they have had the benefit of all available treatment options, and that in spite of this they are unable to return to teaching, in any establishment, and in any capacity, even part-time, prior to attaining their normal retirement age. There is no evidence that Mr Walker satisfies these criteria.”

20. DfES advised Mr Walker of its decision by letter dated 17 August 2004.  Mr Walker sought the help of his MP who wrote to DfES asking it to consider whether the fact that Mr Walker’s GP would not refer him to a consultant psychiatrist had any real bearing as the likelihood was that any treatment he would receive would take longer than the time he had left before normal retirement age. 

21. DfES referred the matter back to its Medical Advisers for their comments. Dr Waddy responded:

“…In his letters he indicates that he does not consider his condition to be permanent and that he intends to return to teaching in a part-time capacity at some stage. There is still the possibility that this could occur within the next fifteen months. As time goes by the likelihood of recovery prior to his 60th birthday becomes less likely. I would not like to stipulate a date at which time we could say no recovery possible before age 60. If he has not been referred to a consultant psychiatrist it is not possible to state that he has had the benefit of all available treatment options. It is not compulsory for him to be referred but any modification of treatment would help his condition, and could be achieved prior to 60, although he would not be teaching for an extended period prior to 60.”

22. On 12 April 2005, Mr Walker made a fresh application to DfES. In support of his application he submitted a report dated 8 February 2005 from Dr Kramer, a Consultant Psychiatrist. Dr Kramer concluded that Mr Walker did not describe any symptoms suggestive of a major depressive episode, anxiety or psychosis and thus he was unsure whether Mr Walker was suffering from a general medical condition such as blepharospasm or psychiatric condition, such as a conversion disorder. He stated that for a conversion disorder to be diagnosed a physical illness causing blepharospasm needed first to be excluded. Dr Kramer suggested that Mr Walker be referred to a neurologist. He also suggested Mr Walker’s anti-depressant medication be increased as a trial to see whether his condition further improved.

23. Mr Walker’s third application was considered by DfES who referred the application to their Medical Advisers. Dr Howell, again considered Mr Walker’s application and recommended that he should not be regarded as permanently incapacitated.  He noted that:

“…An increase in the dosage of the anti-depressant medication has been recommended and referral to a specialist neurological assessment has been advised. The medical evidence does not support the conclusion that Mr Walker will continue, despite all appropriate treatment, to be permanently incapable of teaching for a further eight months until his normal retirement age of 60.”

24. Mr Walker sought the help of TPAS who wrote to DfES on 7 July 2005 enclosing a letter from Mr Walker’s GP advising that Mr Walker had been referred to a neurologist. 

25. As a consequence of this, DfES referred Mr Walker’s case back to its Medical Advisers for comment. In their memo, DfES state, “…Can you please consider whether anything contained in TPAS’ letter is likely to change the previous recommendation to reject in this case….?” The case was reviewed again by Dr Westlake who, on 3 August 2005, commented as follows: 

“…Turning now to the fundamental issue regarding whether or not Mr Walker should be regarded as permanently incapable of teaching until his normal retirement date. I note that there is a letter dated 27 June 2005 from the General Practitioner. Although not explicitly stated, I act on the presumption that Mr Walker would like this to be treated as fresh medical evidence in support of his application. The General Practitioner reports that a neurological opinion has been requested to establish whether there was an underlying neurological cause for the eye symptoms. It would be helpful to know the outcome of this referral. I acknowledge that there are only a matter of some eighteen weeks between now and the date upon which Mr Walker is due to attain his normal retirement age. However the General Practitioner in this most recent letter, has stated that Mr Walker is not keen to follow that advice to increase the dose of anti-depressant medication. Taken together with the pending neurological referral, the outcome of which is not known at present, I do find myself having to advise that the permanence of the current level of disability has not been established.” 

26. TPAS was advised by way of a letter dated 3 August 2005 which was subsequently forwarded to Mr Walker. 

27. On 5 October 2005, Mr Walker wrote again to DfES saying that he had now seen a neurological consultant. His letter states that DfES “may regard this as an appeal, additional medical evidence or whatever you consider suitable.”  

28. DfES responded, on 3 November 2005, saying that it was not possible to treat his letter as an appeal as the appeals procedure had already been exhausted but that it remained open to Mr Walker to submit a new application with any new medical evidence that had become available. DfES also pointed out to Mr Walker that, as he had submitted a form applying for age retirement benefits, he would have to withdraw that application if he wished to submit a new application for ill-health benefits. 

29. On receipt of DfES’ letter of 3 November 2005, Mr Walker telephoned DfES to discuss the situation. DfES confirmed the telephone conversation in writing the following day, 7 November 2005. DfES’ letter reads as follows:

“…You confirmed that you do not intend to submit a new ill health retirement application but that you intend to pursue an appeal against rejection of your most recent application submitted in April 2005. Teachers’ Pensions have also confirmed that you have cancelled your application for age benefits submitted in September 2005.

Statutorily, if you are not awarded an ill-health retirement pension before you attain age 60 on 16 December, then on that date you will become entitled to benefits payable on the grounds of age, despite the fact that you have cancelled your application.

However in view of your stated intention to pursue an appeal against a rejection of your application for Ill Health retirement Benefits (IHRB) received on 14 April 2005, I am prepared to allow you until 6 January 2006 to submit the appeal (this is to take account of the delay on the Department’s part which I referred to in my previous letter). …

I am obliged to stress (and re-iterate) that the Department’s Medical Advisors may only consider as an appeal, any medical report(s) that were available at the time the application was received on 14 April 2005. Any medical evidence pertaining to an examination/consultation that has taken place subsequent to that date would, by necessity, constitute a new application. Again, such a new application for IHRB would have to be submitted by 6 January 2006.  …  

Summary    
It is open for you to submit an appeal against the rejection of your IHRB received on 14 April 2005 but the further evidence that you submit must reach Teachers’ Pensions by 6 January 2006. 

If the further evidence that you submit was available on 14 April 2005 then the reports will be forwarded to the MA for consideration as an appeal. 

If the evidence submitted relates to a date subsequent to 14 April 2005, the reports will not be forwarded to the MA unless you provide a covering note confirming that you wish the evidence to be considered as a new application. …”    
30. On 8 November 2005, Mr Walker appealed once more against DfES’ decision. In his letter he says: 

“I have now been off work since 19th March 2003. Having waited another 6 months from the date of my previous application …I was referred to a consultant neurologist on 30th September last. After a thorough examination she ruled out any neurological cause for my condition but said she would refer me to another consultant, Dr Butterworth, who would discuss the possibility of having Botox injections which may or may not help with my eye spasms. I enclose a copy of my appointment which as you will see is way past my 60th birthday….
I would like you to accept this letter as an appeal and act accordingly.”

31. DfES referred Mr Walker’s case back to its Medical Advisers for comment, stating, “Please consider this first appeal, Dr Howell considered the original application”. 

32. On 14 November 2005, Dr Westlake wrote to DfES for clarification as to how the case should be treated saying, “If you are maintaining this is an appeal and that no medical evidence later than 14 April 2005 can be taken into consideration, the outcome is a foregone conclusion. On the other hand, if this is to be treated as a new application, there is a letter dated 27 June 2005 from GP and an OPD appointment for January 2006 which would argue for acceptance”.

33. DfES responded saying, “As Mr Walker has stipulated that his letter is an appeal it should be treated as such. It is my understanding that appeals can only be considered on the basis of information that was available at the time…”

34. Mr Walker’s appeal was considered again by Dr Westlake, a DfES Medical Adviser, who concluded on 24 November 2005:

“……the letter of appeal submitted by the applicant has been noted. …A report on behalf of a Consultant Psychiatrist recommended referral to a Consultant Neurologist to exclude physical illness before diagnosing a psychiatric condition. Where the available treatment options have yet to be explored, it would be premature to speculate that the current level of disability will cause permanent incapacity. The available medical evidence fails to support the conclusion that the applicant is likely to be permanently incapable of teaching on grounds of ill-health despite appropriate treatment.”  

35. Mr Walker responded on 28 November 2005. In his letter he asks whether the Medical Advisers have overlooked that there was only a short time left until his 60th birthday and points out that he has an appointment to see another consultant on 21 February 2006.
36. On 16 December 2005, DfES wrote to Mr Walker stating:

“I have considered the contents of your letter. The 6 January extension that was granted was an exceptional date to enable you to provide any further evidence in this case. Unfortunately, your letter did not provide any further information nor will we be able to take into account the outcome of the appointment on the 21 February as this is later than the extension given.

Therefore, unless we hear further from you before you reach age 60, we will instruct Teachers’ Pensions to put your age award into payment.”  
SUBMISSIONS

37. DfES submit: 

37.1
In order to be awarded ill-health benefits an individual must have an illness or disability which, despite having received appropriate treatment, renders them incapable of teaching in a full or part-time capacity up to the age of 60.
37.2
At the time of the applications, Mr Walker had not undertaken all of the appropriate treatment. He was advised by a Consultant Psychiatrist in February 2005 to increase the anti-depressant dose he was taking, which he was disinclined to do. That is a matter entirely for him however, if he has declined appropriate medical treatment, he has not met the requirements of the Regulations.

37.3
Section 8 of the second application form states, “was seen when his symptoms were improving so was agreed no further appointment until he returned to work”. This does not suggest that the illness Mr Walker suffered from was likely to incapacitate him until his sixtieth birthday. 
37.4
In medical terms the “history” of an illness relates simply to the period over which the condition has manifested itself. It does not suggest, as Mr Walker infers, that the doctor concluded he had been suffering from this condition for many years. On appeal or on receipt of a fresh application the doctor considering the case considers all the evidence presented and does not simply “rubber stamp” a previous conclusion.
37.5
The “appropriate medical treatment” criterion is intended to ensure that a decision to award ill health benefits is only reached after the applicant’s condition has been properly diagnosed, appropriate treatment has been considered and where relevant pursued. This requirement is good practice as it encourages applicants to be proactive in pursuing treatment and trying to recover their health.
37.6
For a large period of the time (including time when Mr Walker was applying for ill health benefits) his condition had not been diagnosed. Essentially, ill health benefits were applied for on the strength of the symptoms without the cause being identified, and without a proper understanding of the cause no proper assessment of its treatment or potential longevity could be achieved. 
37.7
The Regulations do not impose a duty on the Secretary of State to obtain further medical evidence. It is for the teacher to substantiate his application with medical evidence. This is consistent with the judgement in Hamar v Pensions Ombudsman [1996] OPLR 55, approved in Secretary of State for Education and Skills v Farley [2004] EWHC 1768. In Hamar, Mr Justice Collins held “What is suggested here is that there was a duty on the trustees not only to inform of rights, but also to inform as to how those rights could be properly exercised, or more importantly perhaps, that those rights were not being properly exercised. It seems to me that that is to extend, beyond anything that has hitherto been suggested, the supposed duties of trustees.” In other words, the Ombudsman cannot extend the duties of trustees beyond those set out. Since there is no specific or general duty on the Secretary of State to seek out medical evidence, the failure to do so cannot constitute maladministration.
37.8
The Medical Adviser, in November 2005, was advising on the merits of an appeal submitted by Mr Walker against the rejection of his third application in April of the same year. Dr Westlake’s appeal decision of 24 November 2005 followed Dr Howell’s application decision of 15 April 2005. Dr Westlake did not deal on appeal with an application he had previously rejected. The Medical Adviser, in November 2005, was correct to state that at the time of the original decision being appealed, Mr Walker had not seen a neurologist. The fact that this last review was an appeal against an earlier rejection and was treated as such is consistent both with IDRP and Mr Walker’s intentions. It was Mr Walker’s decision to appeal his last application rather than make a new application. Prior to him doing so, great care had been taken to explain to Mr Walker the differences between an appeal and an application.
37.9
If DfES were obliged to consider at appeal evidence that had only become available after the date of the original application, it would place DfES in an impossible position. It would invite members to submit applications on a “just in case” basis, then wait indefinitely to see whether their medical condition worsened.
37.10
An alternative option would have been for the DfES to have unilaterally chosen to treat Mr Walker’s last appeal as a new application. However, the Ombudsman has criticised the DfES for treating appeals as new applications in previous determinations (P00377) and the DfES has accepted it was wrong to have done so.   
37.11
The Medical Adviser’s are independent qualified occupational health specialists who are familiar with the ill health requirements of the Scheme and as such are fully competent to advise whether or not the evidence provided shows these requirements to be met. The Medical Advisers are tasked with providing independent objective advice in each case, even if this leads to a disagreement with advice from a previous Medical Adviser. 
37.12
DfES’ decision to obtain advice from a different Medical Adviser at each stage is intended to reflect the IDRP requirement for a different person to consider and respond at each stage. This is considered good practice and DfES is confident that this requirement has been met. There is no requirement for a different Medical Adviser to provide advice at every instance that advice is sought. Further this would require the DfES to retain the services of an indeterminate number of Medical Advisers as we could not predict how many times advice would need to be sought.  
37.13
The criteria for ill-health benefits are implicitly addressed in the terms that are applied in the decision making process by DfES and its Medical Advisers and are explicitly referred to in the recommendations provided by the Medical Advisers. These criteria cannot be properly assessed without regard to such issues as an applicant’s age, incapacitating condition and other relevant factors such as nearness to retirement age. The Medical Advisers provided professional advice which was appropriately weighted in each case depending on whether the decision was in respect of an application or an appeal. 
37.14
When Mr Walker’s case was reviewed again at the time of TPAS’ involvement, this constituted an additional appeal to the two previous IDRP appeals, not a fresh application. The decision to request a further review was taken in good faith with the intention of resolving a misunderstanding on Mr Walker’s part. 
38.
Mr Walker submits:

38.1 When it was suggested that the anti-depressant medication should be increased he was reluctant to do so as the amount he was already taking had unpleasant side effects. His GP agreed that he should not therefore increase the amount of medication he was taking. 
38.2 He maintains that proper regard has not been had to whether his condition remained “permanent” even when the matter was considered increasingly close to his 60th birthday.
38.3 DfES wrote to him on 16 December 2005 (his 60th birthday) pointing out that, unless he could produce fresh evidence before he reached age 60, they would instruct TPA to put his age related pension into payment.
38.4
He takes issue with Dr Howell’s report dated 15 July 2004 which states that he had a “history of persistent depressive illness”. He says that he has had no such history and contends that this comment has greatly influenced the further judgements of Dr Westlake and Dr Waddy. 

CONCLUSIONS

39. The test for incapacity under the Regulations is whether the applicant is unable to serve as a teacher due to illness or injury, despite appropriate medical treatment, and is likely permanently to be so. DfES’ task was therefore to decide whether, as a matter of fact, based on available evidence including the advice of their Medical Advisers, Mr Walker met these criteria.

40. In reaching a decision, DfES must ask the right questions, construe the Regulations correctly and only take into account relevant matters. DfES should not come to a perverse decision, i.e. a decision which no other reasonable decision maker faced with the same evidence would come to.

41. There is no dispute that Mr Walker was suffering from an illness or injury which prevented him working as a teacher. The issue is whether his illness was such that, despite any appropriate medical treatment which might be available, he was likely to be unable to work again before his normal retirement date. 

42. Mr Walker takes issue with Dr Howell’s report dated 15 July 2004 which states that he had a “history of persistent depressive illness”. He says that he has had no such “history” and contends that this comment has greatly influenced the further judgements of Dr Westlake and Dr Waddy. Whilst I understand Mr Walker’s discomfort with such phraseology, I must concur with DfES’ view that in medical terms the “history” of a condition is simply the length of time, however short or long, the person suffers from associated symptoms. In any event, I am satisfied that this particular term did not unduly influence the other Medical Advisers concerned. 

43. DfES sought advice on Mr Walker’s state of health from their Medical Advisers, whose first opinion, in May 2004, was that, as Mr Walker had not at that stage been referred to a consultant psychiatrist, it was premature to speculate whether his current level of disability would cause permanent incapacity.  The same view was taken by the Medical Advisers at the time the second application was considered and at subsequent reviews of Mr Walker’s case. 

44. The Regulations do not specify what medical evidence the Secretary of State is to consider before reaching his decision.  The Medical Advisers took the view that Mr Walker should be referred to a consultant psychiatrist, however, his GP did not at that time agree with that opinion and as a consequence a referral was not made until some time after the first application. 

45. I have noted that, during the course of Mr Walker’s numerous applications and appeals, Dr. Howell considered every application and Dr Westlake every appeal. Between them, they considered his position no less than six times, although on one occasion Dr Waddy also opined. Where there are conflicting views between the applicant’s and respondent’s Medical Advisers, it would be good administrative practice for the DfES to consider whether it had obtained an appropriate breadth of medical opinion. This applies where the conflict relates to prognosis as well as to diagnosis, and also as to whether certain treatments may be “appropriate”. 

46. DfES submit that no Medical Adviser dealt with an appeal where he had previously rejected an application.  DfES’ own procedures, set down in their guidelines, state that an appeal will be considered by a Medical Adviser other than the one who made the original recommendation to reject the application and I agree that this is good practice. However, I have seen that it was Dr Westlake who dealt with Mr Walker’s application after the involvement of TPAS, and to whom the case was again referred in November 2005. Bearing in mind the number of applications and appeals, in my view, DfES might have considered it prudent to seek further independent medical advice about Mr Walker’s condition. It seems to me that, in the particular circumstances of Mr Walker’s case, the failure to avoid repeatedly involving the same Medical Advisers is open to criticism. 
47. I see some merit in DfES’ argument that, if a different Medical Adviser was used in every instance it would be necessary to retain the services of an indeterminate number of Medical Advisers as they could not predict how many times advice would need to be sought. However, DfES acknowledge the merits of an independent review, in ensuring that, on appeal, such a review will be carried out by a Medical Adviser other than the one who first considered the application. There will be some cases, such as Mr Walkers, which have a string of several applications and appeals, in which a view might be taken as to whether a wider range of opinion may be desirable as the case progresses. 
48. DfES cite Hamar v Pensions Ombudsman [1996] OPLR 55 as being consistent with their submission that the Regulations do not impose any duty upon the Secretary of State to obtain medical evidence before considering an application. In Hamar the issue in question was the Trustees' obligation to give information to a beneficiary of a trust by showing him or her documents. In that case the Judge held that Trustees are not obliged to point the beneficiary in the right direction or to tell him of his errors, even assuming that they are aware that those errors existed. I do not see the case as helpful in considering whether, having decided to obtain expert medical input, steps might be taken to ensure that input is suitably diverse.
49. By the time Mr Walker’s third application was considered in April 2005, the Medical Adviser had been provided with the report from Dr Kramer, a consultant psychiatrist. The report related Mr Walker’s medical and personal history and suggested changes in medication. Dr Kramer was, however, unsure whether Mr Walker was suffering from a general medical condition or a psychiatric condition. Thus he had suggested that Mr Walker be referred to a neurologist. The Medical Adviser, Dr Westlake, again reached the view that the medical evidence did not support the conclusion that Mr Walker would continue, despite all appropriate treatment, to be permanently incapable of teaching for a further eight months until his normal retirement age of 60. He referred in particular to “the pending neurological referral, the outcome of which is not known at present”.

50. In the final review, on 24 November 2005, just three weeks before Mr Walker’s 60th birthday, the Medical Adviser, again Dr Westlake, was aware that Mr Walker had seen a neurologist, and indicated that this might lead to an acceptance. However, on the advice of DfES, he was told only to consider information which had been available at the date of the application. DfES argue that this was correct because he was considering an appeal against the decision in April 2005, at which time Mr Walker had not seen a neurologist. Whilst I agree that the neurologist’s report itself was not available at the time of the April 2005 application it is, nonetheless, clear that there was no regard in the Medical Adviser’s opinion for the fact that, in considering Mr Walker’s condition as at April 2005, the outcome of the neurological referral, which he had mentioned in his earlier rejection of Mr Walker’s application in August 2005, was now known. That had a bearing on that decision, and should have been considered as possible further medical evidence in relation to the extent to which untried treatments might have enabled Mr Walker to return to teaching. In this respect DfES misdirected Dr Westlake and this amounts to maladministration.

51. DfES’ argue that an alternative option would have been to have unilaterally chosen to treat Mr Walker’s last appeal as a new application. They point out that the Pensions Ombudsman has criticised the DfES for such action in previous determinations and the DfES has accepted it was wrong to have done so. I agree that it would be wrong of DfES to take such a decision unilaterally, although their decision not to treat Mr Walker’s last appeal as a new application was clearly not influenced by the determination referred to as that determination was not made until 3 January 2007. In any event it is now clear, from evidence submitted at a very late stage in the investigation, that the situation was made clear to Mr Walker and that it was his choice not to submit a further application. 
52. Even if it was still considered there was any further “appropriate” treatment to be undertaken, with but three weeks remaining, it was by now increasingly clear that it was highly unlikely that it could take effect before Mr Walker reached the age of 60. And no regard whatsoever had been had for the practical consideration of whether such treatment was available at such short notice and the likely timescale within which benefits might have been expected, if at all. All of this had a bearing on the likelihood of Mr Walker’s condition remaining until his 60th birthday and the earlier decision taken in this respect.  For DfES to have relied unquestioningly upon such medical advice to have taken such a decision so close to Mr Walker’s normal retirement date can only be regarded as perverse.

53.
There is no doubt that the distinction between an appeal and a fresh application, and what medical evidence should be considered, can be confusing. But I see nothing objectionable in principle, to an approach which requires consideration of new medical evidence on appeal which might not have been available at the date of the original decision but which has a bearing on that decision. This is particularly so where the original decision on permanence turns on the likely effect and availability of as yet untested treatments. Self-evidently, if a condition is said not to be permanent because there are such treatments available, later evidence which demonstrates that those treatments either had no effect within relevant timescales or were otherwise unsuitable, must have a bearing on the question of permanence as previously opined. If a jury acquits somebody based on available evidence, it is no criticism of them if advances in forensics make evidence available which shows that the accused was guilty, their original decision was nonetheless wrong. DfES argue that, if they were obliged to consider at appeal evidence that had only become available after the date of the original application, it would invite members to submit speculative claims and then wait indefinitely to see whether their medical condition worsened. Although I can see some merit in the argument that an occasional speculative claim may be made I can see nothing wrong in DfES considering such evidence at appeal if it has a bearing on the original decision. In any event, Regulation E4(8) provides that entitlement to the benefit begins as soon as the person falls within the Case or, if later, six months before the date of the last medical report considered as part of that decision, so where later medical reports do result in a different conclusion, the Regulations already ensure that anybody putting in a “speculative” claim will not have their entitlement backdated inappropriately. 
54. The question to be answered here was whether, on the balance of probabilities, the ill health which prevented Mr Walker from discharging his duties as a teacher was likely to be permanent.  If such ill health might improve, as a result of treatment, so that he could have potentially resumed his duties, then the view might well have been taken that the ill health was not likely to be permanent.  However, proper regard should be had for whether, for whatever reason, access to such treatment within the time available is possible and for the speed with which any improvement may be expected. I can see no evidence that these considerations played any part in the decision making process either at the time of the original application or on appeal. 
55. There was little if any consideration given, at any stage in the process, to the extent that, even if there remained untried treatments, they would have any effect and within what timescales. Repeatedly, the Medical Advisers simply asserted, for example, that, “where the full range of therapeutic options has yet to be explored it would be inappropriate to consider incapacity…to be permanent” (paragraph 12 above) and, “in order to satisfy the criteria for early payment…the applicant…[must] have had the benefit of all available treatment options…” (paragraph 19 above). These observations do not demonstrate any consideration being given to the likelihood or not that the untried treatment would be successful in the timescale required. It should surely have been clear that, regardless of what had gone before, an opinion expressed just three weeks before somebody reaches 60 years of age, which confirms that, despite by that time the fact that the problem had persisted for around three years, the person might recover by the time they are 60 because there are untested treatments, is flawed.  In my view, DfES failed to give proper consideration to these factors in considering whether the view taken in April 2005 had been correct, the closer Mr Walker came to the age of 60.

56. Mr Walker argues that his GP was dismissive of the suggestion that the anti- depressant medication should be increased. As is not uncommon, the various medical opinions which have been obtained by one or other party are not unanimous.  For the decision maker to favour one doctor’s opinion over that of another is not in my judgement evidence of any perversity in the decision, but simply represents the weighing of one set of evidence against another. However, it is apparent that there were differing views over what was “appropriate” treatment for Mr Walker. I have seen little to suggest that this criterion was considered, and the view was taken, quite simply, that if untested treatment remained available, the condition could not be said to be “permanent”.
57. I have expressed concern above about the repeated involvement of the same medical practitioners. Moreover, when Mr Walker’s case was referred back to the DfES’ Medical Advisers in August 2005, following intervention from TPAS, the Medical Adviser concerned, Dr Westlake, said he assumed this was to be treated as fresh medical evidence in support of the application. DfES say that this “review constituted an appeal additional to the two previous IDRP appeals whose rejection it was concerned with”. I confess that I am unclear just what they are saying here. Both previous appeals had been considered by Dr Westlake also. Either this was an appeal therefore against one of Dr Westlake’s earlier decisions, in which case he should not have considered it, or it was an appeal against the application dated 12 April, in which case Dr Westlake should not then have considered the matter again in November. This seems to me to clearly contravene the procedure set down in DfES’ own Appeals Leaflet. In addition, whereas in August 2005 Dr Westlake accepted “fresh medical evidence in support of [Mr Walker’s] application”, in November 2005 he was unable to consider the further medical evidence then available as he was told he could not do so on appeal. This seems to be wholly contradictory.

58. The DfES leaflet describing the Appeal System is itself in error in claiming that, on an appeal, only written evidence which would have been available at the time of the original application can be considered. There is nothing in the IDRP Regulations about such limitation, and it is clear that it was on this erroneous assumption in November 2005, that the report from the neurologist was apparently disregarded.  It is also wrong in saying there is no time limit on making a first appeal. And finally it is wrong in saying that the submission of new medical information necessarily results in it being treated as a new application rather than an appeal.  Indeed, the Medical Adviser considering Mr Walker’s appeal referred to above, purported to treat new medical evidence as being in support of the original application. The member has a statutory right to have his appeal determined and is entitled to produce further evidence about his condition at the time of the decision being appealed.  The possibility of also having the matter considered as a fresh application should be in addition to, not in substitution for, his receiving a formal determination whether the original decision was correct. 

59. In the face of the many concerns outlined here about DfES’ consideration of Mr Walker’s request for ill-health benefits, I am remitting the matter to them for fresh consideration taking into account the matters I have referred to above. 

DIRECTIONS
60.
I direct that DfES shall properly reconsider whether and, if appropriate, from what date, Mr Walker became entitled to ill-health benefits under Regulation E4, and issue a further decision within 56 days of this determination. And in so doing and seeking further medical advice shall have regard in particular to my comments in paragraphs 46 and 50 above.
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

6 March 2007
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